No. 68534-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CURTIS WALKER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Bruce Hilyer

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Susan F. Wilk Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Like membership in a church, social club, or community organization, the right to associate with street gangs is protected by the First Amendment. At the same time, jurors view evidence of gang membership as proof that the accused is disposed towards criminality. Thus, unless the State can establish a nexus between the fact of gang affiliation and an essential ingredient of the charged offense, the introduction of gang evidence creates an impermissible risk that the jury will render a guilty verdict based upon the defendant's beliefs, in violation of his First Amendment right to free assembly, and is reversible error.

At Curtis Walker's murder trial, the State prevailed upon the trial court to admit evidence that Walker was an "OG" in the "Bloods" street gang. The State theorized that this evidence was relevant because Alajawan Brown, who was wearing blue, was shot by an unknown gunman after Walker's friend, Johnathon Jackson, was shot, allegedly on "Crips" territory, by a man wearing blue who then fled. The State theorized that Walker shot Brown because he mistook him for Jackson's shooter. But the State did not explain what relevance Walker's gang affiliation had to its mistaken identity theory, nor did the State present evidence to contextualize the gang affiliation evidence for the jury. Walker's involvement in Brown's shooting was otherwise contested, and

the evidence suggested that another man, an associate of Walker and Jackson, may have been the killer.

The admission of the prejudicial and irrelevant evidence of Walker's affiliation with the "Bloods" gang prevented Walker from receiving a fair trial, requiring reversal of his murder conviction.

Additionally, the trial court erred in denying Walker's motion to substitute counsel, and various deficiencies in the instructions provided to the jury separately and cumulatively require reversal of Walker's convictions.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Contrary to Walker's due process right to a fair trial as secured by the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution, the trial court erred in admitting evidence of gang membership.
- The evidence of gang membership was admitted without proper foundation and violated Walker's First Amendment right to freedom of association.
- The admission of evidence of gang membership violated ER 404(b).
- 4. Contrary to Walker's Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 right to conflict-free counsel, the trial court erroneously denied Walker's motion to substitute counsel.

believed he was the man who shot Jackson, insufficient to justify the admission of evidence of Walker's gang affiliation?

- 2. The State's sole claim of a "nexus" between Walker's gang affiliation and the shooting of Brown was that Brown was wearing similar clothing to the man who had just shot Walker's friend and was possibly was a "Crip." The State did not explain why Walker's gang affiliation supplied a motive for the shooting. Did the admission of the gang affiliation evidence violate Walker's First Amendment right to free assembly?
- 3. When an accused person has sought substitution of counsel, the reviewing court must consider: (1) the extent of the conflict; (2) whether the trial judge made an appropriate inquiry into the extent of the conflict; and (3) the timeliness of the motion to substitute counsel. The inquiry is necessary for an informed decision, and the failure to conduct an adequate inquiry requires reversal. Walker twice moved for substitution of counsel; counsel confirmed that communications had irretrievably broken down and that the breakdown was not Walker's fault; Walker filed a bar grievance against his counsel; and counsel told the court that additional factors which counsel felt uncomfortable discussing in open court supported the conclusion that communications had irreconcilably broken down. Did the

trial court violate Walker's right to conflict-free counsel when it failed to inquire further into the circumstances underlying the breakdown?

- 4. An accused person is constructively denied his Sixth

 Amendment right to the assistance of counsel when he is forced to go to
 trial with a lawyer with whom he has a conflict. A conflict exists where
 there is an irreconcilable breakdown in communications between the
 accused and his lawyer. In this situation, the question of the adequacy of
 counsel's performance is irrelevant; rather, prejudice is presumed. Was
 Walker constructively denied his right to counsel when he was forced to
 go to trial with a lawyer with whom he had an irreconcilable conflict?
- 5. Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution prohibits judicial comments on the evidence. A judge comments on the evidence when he conveys his personal attitude towards the merits of the case or instructs the jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law. The operability of a firearm possessed by Walker was a disputed fact. Despite the absence of operability language in the statutory definition of "firearm," Jury Instruction 19 resolved the dispute by telling the jury that a gun was a "firearm" if it could be rendered operable within a reasonable period of time. Was Jury Instruction 19 a prohibited judicial comment on the evidence?

- 6. Did the "to convict" instructions given by the court, which informed the jury that they had a "duty" to convict if the State proved the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt, violate Walker's federal and state constitutional right to a jury trial?
- 7. Should the trial court have given the jury Walker's proposed "to convict" instructions which respected Walker's inviolate right to trial by jury by omitting language that directed a verdict?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The shooting of Alajawan Brown.

Alajawan Brown was shot and killed outside a 7-11 in South Seattle on April 29, 2010. RP 377-81, 535. Brown, who was 11 years old, had just gone to Wal-Mart to buy football cleats and was walking from a bus stop near the 7-11 towards his home. RP 541.

Earlier on the day of the shooting, appellant Curtis Walker was at a music studio working on a rap music project. RP 1327. There, he received a telephone call from a friend, Johnathon Jackson. RP 1131,

¹ The verbatim report of trial proceedings is contained in several consecutively paginated volumes, which are referenced herein as "RP" followed by page number. Pretrial proceedings that took place between March 25, 2011, and October 17, 2011 are contained in a single bound volume, and are referenced herein as "RP (Pretrial)" followed by page number. Transcripts of jury voir dire and opening statements were prepared pursuant to a supplemental order of indigency. Those are referenced as "RP (Voir Dire)" followed by page number.

1327. Jackson sounded upset. RP 1328. He said that somebody wanted to see him, and that he was going to knock that person out. <u>Id</u>.

Walker came home to his Kent apartment complex to give Jackson a ride to Seattle. RP 1331. As he and Jackson were preparing to leave, Rodriguez Rabun, the adult son of Walker's friend and neighbor, Billy Ray Bradshaw, decided to accompany them. RP 1333-34. Walker's wife, Shaleese Walker, did not want Walker to go and tried to dissuade him from leaving.² RP 1127, 1332. Walker did not listen to Shaleese. He drove off in her black Cadillac, with Jackson in the front passenger seat and Rabun in the back seat. RP 1334. Shaleese followed him in their second car, a burgundy Cadillac. RP 1128, 1135.

Walker drove to an apartment complex in South Seattle called Cedar Village. There were 25-30 people milling around outside. RP 1338. As soon as they arrived, Jackson jumped out of the car. RP 1337. Walker followed him, leaving the keys in the ignition and the engine running. Id. During the drive Jackson had been on his phone, arguing; when they arrived, he began "arguing pretty bad" with another man,

² Since Curtis and Shaleese Walker share a last name, Shaleese Walker is referenced in this brief by her first name. No disrespect is intended.

"BK." RP 1338-39. BK was armed with a handgun. RP 1340. It was Walker's impression that Jackson was trying to start a fight. RP 1340.

"Everyone there" had guns, and the situation "was heated," according to Walker. RP 1405. Walker tried to persuade Jackson to leave, but Jackson "kept running his mouth." RP 1133. Suddenly BK shot Jackson, and mayhem ensued. RP 1345, 1412. Jackson was shot in the side and the leg and fell to the ground. RP 447, 1412. At one point he was lying on his back, trying to escape by pulling himself backwards by his elbows. RP 447. Shaleese estimated that four people were firing guns. RP 1198. BK shot Jackson twice more, and started running away. Id.

Rabun had a concealed weapons permit from a pawn shop in Bastrop, Louisiana, and carried a nine-millimeter semi-automatic handgun. RP 448, 516. He claimed he carried a handgun because "it's a wicked world out there." RP 448. When BK shot Jackson, Rabun pulled out his weapon and fired it four or five times in the direction of BK. RP 448-49. He later asserted that he did so because he believed that he himself had been shot. <u>Id</u>.

By this point, Shaleese was hysterical. RP 1348. She did not want Rabun in her car. RP 1347. Walker decided they needed to leave, with or

³ This individual is referenced by this nickname in the transcripts.

without Rabun. RP 1347, 1349. He got into the back seat of the red Cadillac and told Shaleese to "mash it." RP 1348.

What happened next was disputed. According to Walker, he was crouched in the back seat of the car because of continuous gunfire at the Cedar Village apartment complex. RP 1350. At one point when Shaleese was stopped at a traffic light near a 7-11, he heard several shots fired, looked out, and saw the black Cadillac behind them, being driven by Rabun. RP 1350. Walker did not see whether Rabun had fired the shots.

Shaleese averred that when the shots were fired at the 7-11, she saw Rabun shooting out of the car, although she did not see who he was shooting or whether he hit his target. RP 1140. Alarmed by this behavior and by the fact that Rabun was in her car, she told Walker to get in the black Cadillac. RP 1146, 1350, 1354-55. Walker got in the black Cadillac, where he saw three firearms on the passenger seat: Rabun's nine-millimeter semi-automatic handgun, his own .22 caliber handgun, and a revolver. RP 1356.

According to Walker, he and Rabun then had a conversation about whether Jackson was going to survive. RP 1361. Rabun said, "I think I hit him," but Walker did not ask him who he meant. <u>Id</u>. They continued to drive southbound. As they arrived at the junction for Monster Road,

⁴ It was later determined by a ballistics examiner that Brown had been shot with a bullet from the revolver. RP 1003.

two King County Sheriff's Office police vehicles came towards them. RP 1154. 1356. Rabun drove the black Cadillac through the red light, hit another car, and kept driving. RP 1154.

Walker was a convicted felon and on probation. RP 1364.

Concerned about getting caught in a car that had just left the scene of an accident with three guns, he told Rabun that they had to get rid of the guns. RP 1364-65. Rabun dumped all of the guns, including his own firearm which he was licensed to carry, in some bracken behind a Bank of America parking lot, where they were later found by security personnel and collected by the police. RP 797, 818, 818-21, 1446.

After they dumped the guns, Walker and Rabun drove to the home of a friend of Walker, "Speedy," who ran a chop shop. RP 1369. When they arrived there, Walker telephoned Shaleese, who arrived ten minutes later, followed by Billy Ray Bradshaw, Rabun's father. RP 1370-71. Bradshaw said to Rabun, "Boy, are you all right?" RP 1371. Then Bradshaw told Rabun to get in his car. Id. That was the last time that Walker saw Rabun: he fled to Louisiana, taking a flight at four a.m. the following morning. RP 480, 1371. "Speedy" stripped the black Cadillac of the tire rims and stereo, punched the ignition so the car could not be driven, and left it by the side of the road. RP 1451-52, 1456.

2. The police investigation and criminal charges.

The day after the shooting, Walker and Shaleese left for a longplanned trip to Ocean Shores to celebrate their anniversary. RP 1382. Shaleese was tired, so they stopped en route in Yelm and checked into the King Oscar motel. RP 1384, 1510. When they arrived at their room, Walker realized he forgot his cigarettes and went down to the car to fetch them. RP 1385. He never made it there; in the hotel lobby, he was arrested at gunpoint. RP 1385.

The police interrogated both Walker and Shaleese. RP 1189-90; 1386-88. According to Shaleese, it was during this interrogation that she learned of Brown's death; although she had seen Rabun firing his gun near the 7-11, she did not realize that anyone had been hit. RP 1174, 1180. After learning about Brown, Walker and Shaleese lost heart to continue their planned trip to Ocean Shores, and returned to Kent. RP 1390. They gave statements on two subsequent days to police. RP 1391.

Walker was arrested, and the State ultimately charged Walker by amended information with one count of murder in the first degree with a firearm enhancement and one count of unlawfully possessing a firearm in the first degree. CP 23-24.

3. <u>Conflicting eyewitness evidence</u>, and Rabun's claim that Walker was the shooter.

Walker proceeded to a jury trial. There were several eyewitnesses to Brown's shooting, however the scene was chaotic and their testimony regarding what they observed diverged. Austin Cassell, who was buying gasoline at the 7-11, said he saw a burgundy Cadillac and a black Cadillac pull up to the traffic light near the 7-11. RP 593-94. Cassell believed he saw a gun drawn from the passenger-side window of the burgundy Cadillac. RP 599, 603-04. He was only able to describe the shooter in the "vaguest terms," but believed him to be an African-American man in his mid- to late-thirties, with a dark complexion. RP 598. He believed the man was wearing a white t-shirt. Id. Although he believed the vehicle passenger had fired the shot, he told detectives that it was possible that the driver had leaned across the passenger seat and shot Brown. RP 603-04.

Ryan Harper, a passenger in Austin Cassell's car, said he saw someone he believed was appellant Curtis Walker get out of the burgundy car and fire two shots. RP 613. This individual then got into the black car. RP 615. According to Harper, the shooter was wearing a multicolored jacket, like a NASCAR coat, which was blue, yellow, and black. RP 618. Harper said the shooter was wearing dark pants, and was not wearing any kind of hat or glasses. RP 621.

Stacey Sparks saw a man she later described as resembling the rapper "Scar Face" walking towards the black car at the traffic light near the 7-11. RP 572-73. She said that he was wearing a Muslim prayer cap, a long leather coat, and a blue shirt. <u>Id</u>. She said that he was carrying something that she speculated was a silver gun underneath his coat. RP 574-75. Other witnesses, whose observations of the shooter were more limited, said that the shooter was wearing blue jeans. RP 644, 663.

On the day of the shooting, Rabun was wearing a hat, sunglasses, and a multi-colored coat, with shorts cut off below the knees. RP 1298, 1358. Walker was wearing a red cowboy hat and a black-and-white t-shirt, a leather coat, black pants with red pockets, and red-and-white shoes. RP 1333. He was not wearing the hat when he got out of Shaleese's red Cadillac and into the black Cadillac driven by Rabun. RP 1205.

Renton police officer Thomas Smith collected the guns. RP 797.

He wore rubber gloves, and secured the guns by unloading each one. RP 820-28. Although Smith packed the guns and cartridges individually, he wore the same pair of gloves to handle each gun. RP 824, 838-39.

Walker's DNA was found on the revolver that allegedly was used to shoot

⁵ Sparks was not asked to submit to any formal identification procedure, however when she saw Walker on television, she claimed she recognized him as the shooter, although she said his hair was shorter during the incident. RP 580.

Brown. RP 1061, 1063. Tara Roy, a forensic scientist, testified that a DNA transfer could have occurred during the collection and transport of the firearms, particularly if someone handling the guns were the same pair of gloves for each one. RP 1072-73.

To convict Walker, the State relied principally on the testimony of Rabun, who they flew from Louisiana to testify against him. Rabun admitted to shooting at BK four to five times while at Cedar Village. RP 448-49. Rabun also admitted that when Walker drove away from the Cedar Village in the burgundy Cadillac, he followed in the black Cadillac. RP 451-52. According to Rabun, when the burgundy Cadillac stopped at the red light by the 7-11, Walker got out of the car, reached out, and with his arm extended fired three times at Brown. RP 458, 460. Brown ran away; Rabun did not believe that he had been shot. RP 461.

Rabun claimed that Shaleese drove off through the red light, and Walker got in the passenger side of the black Cadillac and told Rabun to "mash it." RP 463. Rabun averred that he was "traumatized" and did what Walker told him to do. Id. They drove to a parking lot where they encountered Shaleese. Rabun claimed that Shaleese shouted at Walker, saying, "Why did you kill that little boy? Why did you kill him?" RP 470. Rabun claimed that Walker responded, "Because he killed my

homeboy [sic]."⁶ <u>Id</u>. Rabun stated that he did not say anything because he was still traumatized. RP 471.

Rabun confirmed that he dumped all three guns that were found behind the Bank of America, including his own gun that he was licensed and permitted to own, but said he did so because he was "in a panic." RP 474-76. He said that they then drove to the house of one of Walker's acquaintances. RP 476. While they were there, Shaleese arrived in the burgundy Cadillac and Rabun's father arrived in his own car. RP 477. Rabun said that his father took him home, and that Rabun left for Louisiana the next day because he was scared. RP 480, 530.

4. The State's misuse of evidence of Walker's gang affiliation, and jury verdict.

Pretrial, the State sought to introduce evidence of Walker's affiliation with the "Bloods" gang. The State claimed it did not want to elicit evidence that gangs were "violent" or "bad," but to show Walker's motive for the crime. RP 210-11. The State noted that Walker had told the police during his statements that he was an "OG", meaning "original gangster" or "old gangster," and that he wore red. RP 210. The State theorized that the individuals at Cedar Village were associated with the "Crips" gang whose members wear blue, that BK was wearing blue and

⁶ Rabun testified that Walker "used the 'N' word." RP 470.

fled after shooting Jackson, and that Walker shot Brown because he thought Brown was BK. RP 210-11, 213; Supp. CP __ (Sub. No. 69, State's Trial Memorandum at 8-10).

Walker strenuously objected to the admission of the evidence, both before and during the trial. RP 212, 456, 1211, 1504. The court overruled the objections and, at Walker's request, instructed the jury that "gang membership is not a crime." CP 81.

In opening statements, the State told the jury that Walker wore red and was a "Blood" and that the people at Cedar Village wore blue and black and were "Crips." RP (Voir Dire) 306. The State told the jury that Walker may have shot Brown because he thought Brown was BK, "or he may have thought it was just another one of his associates, just another Crips in blue and black." RP (Voir Dire) 308. The jury convicted Walker as charged. CP 68-70. Walker appeals. CP 156-57.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The admission of unduly prejudicial evidence of gang affiliation prevented Walker from receiving the fair trial guaranteed by the due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions.
- a. An accused person has the due process right to a fair trial.

An accused person is guaranteed a fundamentally fair trial by the due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions. Cone v. Bell,

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