COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

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

There is simply no showing here that there was a complete breakdown in communication. In fact, on more than one occasion, counsel indicated that he and the defendant got along well. The only actual discord noted by the defendant was his vague statement that he felt he was being left in the dark. However, while never explaining what he meant by this, he did not contend that counsel was not communicating with him or that there was some sort of conflict of interest. State v. Thompson 169 Wn. App. 436, 457-58, 290 P.3d 996 (2012) (substitution of counsel is required only where counsel and defendant are at such odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense) (citing Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 268), rev denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013).

The Pace of Discovery: In a criminal case, most of the evidence, written materials and physical items, is in the hands of the State, either being held by the police or the prosecutor's office. The flow of discovery in a criminal case is governed by CrR 4.7. See State v. Hutchinson, 111 Wn.2d 872, 876, 766 P.2d 447 (1989). In many criminal cases, like here, the defense will seek to have items of evidence in the State's custody and control forensically tested by their own experts. E.g., State v. Norris, 157 Wn. App. 50, 236 P.3d 225 (2010), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1017 (2001). If need be, the court

rules provide for court intervention in the discovery process. <u>See</u>

CrR 4.7; State v. Youde, 2013 WL 2157687 (Wn. App. Div. 1, 2013).

There is nothing in the record that suggests defense counsel was deficient in pursuing discovery from the State or conducting a full and complete defense investigation—including forensic testing of the evidence items held by the State. The defendant appears to have abandoned this argument on appeal.

General Dissatisfaction: The defendant did express his general dissatisfaction with counsel. He never asserted anything more than this. The constitution does not require that the defendant and counsel have a "meaningful relationship." Slappy, 461 U.S. at 13-14. In fact, many times the relationship between counsel and his or her client can be quite acrimonious. See, e.g., Fualaau, supra; Thompson, supra. It is only where there is a "complete collapse" of the attorney client relationship that substitution of counsel is required. Stenson, at 722. A general loss of confidence or trust in counsel does not require substitution. Stenson, at 734; Varga, at 179. The defendant did not allege, and there is no evidence to support, that there was anything that came close to a complete collapse of the attorney client relationship.

On appeal, while citing a number of substitution of counsel cases, the defendant does not really identify any specific set of facts that would justify finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the defendant's motion to substitute counsel. Instead, the defendant suggests that the trial court was required to sua sponte conduct a closed-door hearing to hear the defendant's grievances, and because the court did not do so, his conviction must be reversed. This argument fails for multiple reasons.

In determining whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying the defendant's motion to substitute counsel, a reviewing court will look at the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry. Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 607. Consideration of a defendant's complaints must be made. See Varga, at 200-01; Stenson, at 737. There is no requirement that a trial court sua sponte conduct a closed hearing. While there may be cases where such an inquiry is necessary, the trial court's duty is to conduct an appropriate inquiry based on the facts before it so that the court is provided with a sufficient basis to reach an informed decision. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. at 462 (citing United States v. Adelzo–Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772, 777 (9th Cir.2001)). Summarily denying a defendant's motion to substitute counsel without first informing itself of the facts is an

abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 79 Wn. App. 755, 766, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995), <u>disapproved on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Adel</u>, 136 Wn.2d 629, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998).

Here, the defendant was twice asked directly, on the record, by the court, to explain or air his grievances—and he did. Multiple hearings were held on the matter. The defendant also aired his grievances in a letter he wrote addressed to the court. Not once did the defendant suggest, ask, or otherwise indicate that he sought a closed door hearing, that he had information that could only be disclosed at some type of closed door hearing, or that his grievances extended any farther than the information he directly provided to the court. Defense counsel also never asked the court to conduct any type of closed hearing. All that the defendant can rely on is defense counsel's vague, factless statement—made at the end of the presentation of grievances and two full hearings, that there were some other heretofore undisclosed communication problems counsel did not want to disclose.

The court did not summarily deny the defendant's motion.

To the contrary, the court gave the defendant ample opportunity to express the reasons why he wanted new counsel. Neither he nor

his counsel sought a closed hearing and under the facts herein, the defendant cannot show that the trial court abused its discretion.

Additionally, if the relationship between counsel and client "completely collapses," the refusal to substitute new counsel violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Stenson, at 722-23. When this happens, where the breakdown rises to such a level that it amounts to a "complete denial of counsel," no prejudice need be shown. Id. (citing Moore, 159 F.3d at 1158). But where the facts do not show a complete denial of counsel, prejudice will not be presumed. Stenson, at 732. Afterall, the purpose of providing counsel is to ensure defendants receive a fair trial, thus, the appropriate inquiry focuses on the adversarial process, not on the accused's relationship with his lawyer. Stenson, at 725 (citing Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 100 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1988)).

Similarly, where the claim is that there has been a "peremptory denial" of a motion for new counsel, the question is whether counsel's performance actually violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Lopez,

79 Wn. App. 767 (citing <u>United States v. Morrison</u>, 946 F.2d 484, 499 (7th Cir. 1991)). Therefore, under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1964), a defendant "must demonstrate that the performance of the attorney he was saddled with was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases, and that but for counsel's deficiencies, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Morrison</u>, 946 F.2d at 499 (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694); <u>Lopez</u>, at 767.

The defendant's two attorneys performed admirably in this case and the defendant does not argue otherwise. There is nothing in the record wherein the defendant can claim he was prejudiced by the trial court's decision to deny his motion to substitute counsel.

3. THE COURT DID NOT COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE LEGAL DEFINITION OF WHAT CONSTITUTES A FIREARM.

The defendant contends that when the trial court instructed the jury on the legal definition of what constitutes a firearm, the court impermissibly commented on the evidence by conveying to the jury that the issue about whether the gun he possessed was a

"firearm" as defined by law, had been proven by the State. The defendant is mistaken. The court's instruction, jury instruction number 19 (CP 93), provided the jury with nothing more than an accurate legal definition of what constitutes a firearm.

Under article IV, section 16, of the Washington State

Constitution, judges "shall declare the law," but they are prohibited from commenting on the evidence presented at trial.²⁴ Article IV, section 16, contains two directives. First, the provision requires a trial judge to instruct the jury on the law. Second, the provision prevents a trial judge from influencing a jury by interjecting his or her personal opinion of the evidence. State v. Lampshire, 74

Wn.2d 888, 892, 447 P.2d 727 (1968).

An impermissible comment is one that conveys to the jury a judge's personal attitudes toward the merits of the case or allows the jury to infer from what the judge said that the judge personally believed the testimony in question. <u>State v. Deal</u>, 128 Wn.2d 693, 703, 911 P.2d 996 (1996). A violation of article IV, section 16, may

²⁴ "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Const. art. IV, § 16.

occur where a jury instruction tells the jury that a fact in dispute has in point of fact been proven by the State.²⁵

The touchstone of error is whether the feelings of the trial court as to the truth-value of the testimony of a witness has been communicated to the jury. State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838-39, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). A statement by the court will constitute an improper comment on the evidence only if the court's attitude toward the merits of the case or the court's evaluation relative to a disputed issue is inferable from the statement of the court. State v. Louis, 68 Wn.2d 304, 413 P.2d 7 (1966), cert. denied, 386 U.S. 1042 (1967).

The defendant was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 23-24. As an element of that charge, the State was required to prove that the defendant

²⁵ See, e.g., State v. Becker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997). In Becker, the parties disputed whether the Youth Employment Education Program was a "school" for purposes of a school zone penalty enhancement to a drug offense. The court instructed the jury that to return a verdict that the penalty enhancement had been committed, it had to find that the defendant was "within 100 feet of the perimeter of school grounds, to-wit: Youth Education Program **School** at the time of the commission of the crime." Becker, 132 Wn.2d at 64 (emphasis added). By affirmatively calling the program a "school," in the jury instructions, the court improperly conveyed the belief that this fact had been proven by the State. Thus, the instruction was an improper comment on the evidence. See also State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743-46, 132 P.3d 136 (2006) (by including a minor victim's age in the jury instructions for certain sex crimes against minors, the court impermissibly conveyed the belief that the age of the child had been proven by the State).

possessed a "firearm" as that term is defined by law. RCW 9.41.040(1).

By statute, a firearm is defined as a "weapon or device from which a projectile or projectiles *may be fired* by an explosive such as gunpowder." RCW 9.41.010(7) (emphasis added). The "may be fired" language has been interpreted to cover inoperable or disassembled firearms that "can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period." State v. Padilla, 95 Wn. App. 531, 535, 978 P.2d 1113, rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1003 (1999) (handgun recovered in three pieces that could be reassembled within five seconds qualified as a firearm). ²⁶

The trial court provided the jury with the following legal definition as to what constitutes a firearm:

A "firearm" is a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder. A temporarily inoperable firearm that can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a "firearm." A disassembled firearm that can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a "firearm."

²⁶ See also State v. Faust, 93 Wn. App. 373, 380, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998) (a gun that malfunctioned at the time of the crime qualified as a firearm as the definition of a firearm is not limited "to only those guns capable of being fired during the commission of the crime"); State v. Berrier, 110 Wn. App. 639, 645-46, 41 P.3d 1198 (2002) (unloaded gun qualified as firearm); State v. Releford, 148 Wn. App. 478, 489-92, 200 P.3d 729, rev. denied, 166 Wn.2d 1028 (2009) (antique pistol missing parts qualified as firearm); State v. Raleigh, 157 Wn. App. 728, 733-36, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010) (temporarily inoperable gun was firearm), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1029 (2011).

CP 93 (Instruction 19). At trial, the defendant did not dispute that this was an accurate and complete statement of the law. On appeal, the defendant does not acknowledge or cite to any of the above cases defining what constitutes a firearm under the law.

The trial court properly instructed the jury in accordance with the law that a temporarily inoperable firearm that can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a firearm. Padilla, supra. In finding that the defendant was in possession of a gun, the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the gun he possessed was a "firearm" as defined by law. The instruction did not tell the jury that the gun was a firearm as defined by law. Rather, the instruction properly informed the jury that in order to find that the gun was a firearm as defined by law, the jury had to find that the gun was "a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder." CP 93. Further, the instruction did not tell the jury that the gun was operable or that it could be made operable with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time. Rather, the instruction properly informed the jury that if the gun was inoperable, in order to find that the gun was a firearm as defined by law, the

jury had to find that the gun could be "rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period." CP 93.

In the cases cited by the defendant, the jury instructions expressly conveyed to the jury the resolution of a factual issue that the jury was required to find beyond a reasonable doubt.

See Becker, supra (that an education program was in fact a "school"); Jackman, supra (that a victim of a sex crime was a "minor"). The instruction here did not convey to the jury that any factual dispute had been proven by the State. All factual determinations were left to the jury. The defendant's claim that the jury instruction was a comment on the evidence is without merit.

Even if the jury instruction were to be deemed a comment on the evidence, it was harmless in this case. If a judicial comment is found to be an improper comment on the evidence, it is presumed to be prejudicial and the burden is on the State to show that the defendant was not prejudiced, unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted. <u>State v. Levy</u>, 156 Wn.2d 709, 723-24, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006).

First, the jurors were specifically instructed that they were "the sole judges of the credibility of each witness" and "the value or weight to be given to the testimony," and that if the judge expressed a "personal opinion about the value of testimony or the evidence" this was improper and they "must disregard this entirely." CP 74-75. A jury will be presumed to follow the instruction that it must disregard any remark by the court that can be considered a comment on the evidence. State v. Cerny, 78 Wn.2d 845, 856, 480 P.2d 199 (1971), overruled on other grounds by Cerny v. Washington, 408 U.S. 939, 92 S.Ct. 2873, 33 L.Ed.2d 761 (1972).

Second, the jury was instructed that to find the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree, it had to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant caused the death of Alajawan Brown. CP 23-24, 86. The defendant was not charged, and the jury was not instructed, that he could be found guilty as an accomplice for another person's act of causing the death of Alajawan. In other words, the jury had to find that the defendant was the actual shooter, that he possessed the murder weapon and fired the shot that killed Alajawan.

The evidence showed that it was a .38 Smith & Wesson revolver that was used to kill Alajawan. RP 980, 1002. The defendant's argument pertains only to a .22 caliber handgun that he admitted he owned, but claimed was not functional. Def. br. at 45. However, under the facts of this case, in finding that the defendant

shot Alajawan with a .38, any "comment on the evidence" argument that pertained to the .22, was harmless.

4. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT EVERY "TO CONVICT" WPIC JURY INSTRUCTION IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The defendant contends that certain language in the "to convict" jury instructions given in his case rendered the instructions unconstitutional. Specifically, the defendant contends that the following language is a misstatement of the law:

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty...

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty...

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